IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-KA-01295-COA

HOWARD MONTEVILLE NEAL

APPELLANT

v.

THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAMAR COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

James W. Craig

Justin L. Matheny

PHELPS DUNBAR LLP

111 East Capitol Street • Suite 600

P. O. Box 23066

Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3066

Telephone: (601) 352-2300

Facsimile: (601) 360-9777

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

INTRODUCTION

Appellant was accused of a murder committed in February 1981. He was tried and convicted of capital murder on February 4, 1982. At that time, there were only two sentencing options: (1) death; or (2) life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. Appellant was sentenced to death.

Over twenty-five years later, Appellant's sentence was vacated by the trial court after it determined – pursuant to the unanimous conclusion of the State's forensic psychology team – that Appellant is mentally retarded.

The trial court correctly vacated the sentence. However, upon re-sentencing, Appellant was adjudged to serve life without parole based upon the current version of Section 97-3-21 of the Mississippi Code. That section does not apply to Appellant because his crime and conviction occurred before it included the option of life without parole.

The trial court further justified the re-sentencing based upon Section 99-19-107 of the Mississippi Code. But that section does not apply either. Its purpose as enacted in 1977 was to protect Mississippi's death penalty scheme in the event the courts ever held that the scheme was unconstitutional as a whole. In this case, since the death penalty scheme has not been rejected entirely resulting in Appellant's original improper sentence, Section 99-19-107 has no application.

As a result, the Court should vacate Appellant's re-sentence of life without parole and remand this case to the trial court with instructions to enter a sentence of life with possibility of parole.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

This only issue on this appeal presents an important question of constitutional law in a factual scenario unique to this Appellant:

Whether the Ex Post Facto and Due Process Clauses of the United States and Mississippi Constitutions bars a punishment of life without parole that was not a viable sentence at the time of Appellant's crime or conviction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Background Facts, Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below.

On February 6, 1981, Amanda Joy Neal's body was found off of Highway 27 in Lawrence County. Appellant was convicted of capital murder by the Circuit Court of Lamar County, Mississippi – on change of venue from Lawrence County – on February 2, 1982. At the time of Appellant's conviction, MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-21 provided two punishment options: (1) life imprisonment with the possibility of parole or (2) death. Appellant was sentenced to death.

In a separate cause, on August 6, 1982, Appellant was convicted of capital murder by the Circuit Court of Jones County, Mississippi, First Judicial District – on a change of venue from Lawrence County – in Cause No. 1147. In that cause, Appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment.

On direct appeal of his death sentence, Appellant argued, in part, that the Eighth Amendment barred the execution of mentally retarded individuals. The Mississippi Supreme Court rejected Appellant's argument and affirmed his conviction and sentence. *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 752 (Miss. 1984). Appellant appealed to the United States Supreme Court, but certiorari was denied. *Neal v. Mississippi*, 469 U.S. 1098, 105 S.Ct. 607 (1984).

Thereafter, in accordance with MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-39-1, Appellant filed a post-conviction petition alleging nine claims of error. The Mississippi Supreme

Court denied eight of those claims and also denied a subsequent request for rehearing. *Neal v. State*, 535 So. 2d 1379 (Miss. 1987). The Court did, however, remand the case for an evidentiary hearing relating to Appellant's claim that he was denied the right to testify by trial counsel.

An evidentiary hearing was conducted on March 30, 1992, and the trial court entered an order denying relief on May 26, 1992. Appellant appealed, but the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed. A petition for rehearing was later denied and Appellant did not seek further review. *Neal v. State*, 687 So. 2d 1180 (Miss. 1996).

On July 7, 1997, Appellant filed a habeas corpus petition in federal court. United States District Judge Charles Pickering subsequently denied the petition. Appellant then filed a Certificate of Appealability ("COA") in an attempt to obtain review by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. The court granted Appellant's COA, but limited the inquiry to whether "his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and present evidence of mitigating circumstances." *Neal v. Puckett*, No. 99-60511 (5th Cir. May 2, 2000).

A Fifth Circuit panel affirmed Judge Pickering's habeas corpus denial on January 18, 2001. Neal v. Puckett, 239 F.3d 683 (5th Cir. 2001). The court, however, subsequently granted Appellant's request to rehear the decision en banc. Neal v. Puckett, 264 F.2d 1149 (5th Cir. 2001). Nonetheless, the en banc court reached the same conclusion and affirmed the panel's denial of habeas corpus on

March 15, 2002. Neal v. Puckett, 286 F.3d 230 (5th Cir. 2002). Appellant sought review by the United States Supreme Court, but his certiorari petition was denied. Neal v. Epps, 537 U.S. 1104, 123 S.Ct. 963 (2003).

On June 20, 2002, the United States Supreme Court decided Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002). In Atkins, the Court determined that the execution of mentally retarded individuals violates the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Id. at 321. As a result of Atkins, Appellant asked the Mississippi Supreme Court for permission to petition the trial court for removal of his death sentence. On May 20, 2004, the Mississippi Supreme Court granted the request and remanded the case to the trial court. Neal v. State, 873 So. 2d 1010 (Miss. 2004).

In the order remanding the case, the Court provided specific instructions: "The trial court shall...make the determination, by a preponderance of evidence, whether Neal is mentally retarded for Eighth Amendment purposes." *Id.* at 1012-13. On February 15, 2006, at the request of the State, the trial court assigned the Mississippi State Hospital to assist in determining Appellant's mental condition. Specifically, the trial court ordered the State hospital to evaluate Appellant according to diagnostic standards¹ set forth in *Foster v. State*, 848 So. 2d 172

Although the Atkins Court did not delineate specific standards for diagnosing mental retardation for Eighth Amendment purposes, the Mississippi Supreme Court provided guidance in Foster v. State, 848 So. 2d 172 (Miss. 2003) and Chase v. State, 873 So. 2d 1013 (Miss. 2004). Read together, the cases mandate that an expert evaluate (1) intellectual functioning; (2) adaptive functioning; (3) onset before the age of 18; and (4) attempts to malinger the tests.

(Miss. 2003) and *Chase v. State*, 873 So. 2d 1013 (Miss. 2004). Five forensic psychology experts then examined Appellant and produced a unanimous report confirming that he is mentally retarded.

On July 20, 2007, after reviewing the State Hospital's report, the State moved to vacate Appellant's death sentence and requested that the trial court resentence Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 2:183. Appellant responded to this motion and cross-moved for entry of a sentence of life with the possibility of parole. R. 2:195.

On August 14, 2007, the trial court entered an order vacating Appellant's sentence of death and scheduled a re-sentencing hearing for a future date. R. 2:203. On June 27, 2008, the trial court, following a hearing at which Appellant's counsel renewed the objection to a life without parole sentence, issued its resentencing order and specifically sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without eligibility of parole with said sentence to run consecutively to the life sentence with parole imposed upon Appellant in Cause No. 1147. R. 2:209.

Thereafter, on July 17, 2008, Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court from the final re-sentencing order issued by the trial court. R. 2:214.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court got it right when it vacated Appellant's sentence of death below. However, the court erred when it imposed the sentence of life without

eligibility of parole instead. Appellant's re-sentence should have been rendered as life with the possibility of parole.

Appellant's alleged crime occurred in February 1981. A year later, on February 4, 1982, Appellant was sentenced under MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-21 for capital murder. In 1994, § 97-3-21 was revised to include "Life Without Parole," but that option was not available in 1982 when Appellant was sentenced. The only possible sentences available in 1982 were "Death" and "Life With the Possibility of Parole." *See* MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-21 (1972).

Allowing the sentence of life without parole to stand would violate the Ex Post Facto Clauses of the United States and Mississippi Constitutions. Every law imposed after-the-fact that inflicts a greater punishment than that in place at the time of conviction is unconstitutional.

It is also wrong to resort to MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-107 for justification of Appellant's erroneous sentence. The statute mandates that where the death penalty has been held unconstitutional, a person previously sentenced to death shall receive a sentence of "imprisonment for life, and such person shall not be eligible for parole." MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-107. But the legislature never intended for this section to be applied to Appellant, or any other persons convicted of capital murder, on a case-by-case basis. Furthermore, its application here would violate Appellant's due process and *ex post facto* rights. At bottom, it has no application

to Appellant in this case because the death penalty has never been held unconstitutional as a whole.

It was correct for the trial court to vacate Appellant's death sentence. But life without parole should not have been imposed on him in its stead. The resentencing order of the trial court should be conformed to the only other punishment available at that time: life with the possibility of parole.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's death sentence was properly vacated by the trial court as he was unanimously determined to be mentally retarded under the diagnostic standards set forth by the Mississippi Supreme Court. However – upon the trial court's resentencing determination – it was improper to impose a new sentence of life without parole because that punishment was not viable at the time of Appellant's crime or conviction. This court should correct that error.

I. Application of the Current Version of Section 97-3-21 Violated Appellant's *Ex Post Facto* Rights.

Both the United States Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution preclude ex post facto application of laws. The United States Constitution guarantees that "[n]o bill of attainder or ex post facto law shall be passed." U.S. Const., Art. 1, § X. The Mississippi Constitution similarly protects citizens and prohibit after-the-fact application of the law: "[e]x post facto laws or laws

impairing the obligation of contracts shall not be passed." MISS. CONST. ART. 3, § 16.

The Ex Post Facto Clause insures that "federal and state legislatures [are] restrained from enacting arbitrary or vindictive legislation." Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 429, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 2451, 96 L.Ed.2d. 351, 359 (1987). It also provides assurance that statutes "give fair warning of their effect and permit individuals to rely on their meaning until explicitly changed." Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 28-29, 101 S.Ct. 960, 964, 67 L.Ed.2d 23 (1981). Indeed, in the realm of criminal constitutional law, it is a long-standing and bedrock principle in our republic that "[e]very law that changes the punishment, than the law annexed to the crime, when committed []" is unconstitutional. Calder v. Bull, 3 Dall. 386, 390, 1 L.Ed. 648 (1798).

An ex post facto violation occurs when a legislative enactment "...increases the penalty by which a crime is punishable." Cal. Dep't of Corrs. v. Morales, 514 U.S. 499, 506 & n. 3, 115 S.Ct. 1597, 131 L.Ed.2d 588 (1995) (quoting Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 41 (1990)). And, as the Mississippi Supreme Court has recognized, one convicted of an offense should be sentenced in accordance with the statute existing on the date of his offense to avoid an ex post facto problem. Allen v. State, 440 So. 2d 544, 545 & n. 2 (Miss. 1983). See also Puckett v. Abels, 684 So. 2d 671, 678 (Miss. 1996) (holding application of 85% law to offenses

committed prior to enactment to be a violation of the ex post facto clause of the state and federal constitutions).

It is beyond dispute that appellant's purported crime here was committed in February 1981. *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d at 748. He was convicted and sentenced on February 4, 1982. *Id.* at 749-50.

Appellant's sentence was issued pursuant Section 97-3-21 of the Mississippi Code. As of February 4, 1982, that section said:

Every person who shall be convicted of murder shall be sentenced by the court to imprisonment for life in the state penitentiary.

Every person who shall be convicted of capital murder shall be sentenced by the court to death.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-21 (Rev. 1977).

In 1994, life without parole was added as an option for sentencing. Section 97-3-21 of the Mississippi Code was modified to its present form which states:

[e]very person who shall be convicted of murder shall be sentenced by the court to imprisonment for life in the State Penitentiary.

Every person who shall be convicted of capital murder shall be sentenced to (a) death; (b) to imprisonment for life in the State Penitentiary without parole; or (c) to imprisonment for life in the State Penitentiary with eligibility for parole as provided in Section 47-7-3(1)(f).

MISS. CODE ANN. § 97-3-21 (effective from and after July 1, 1994).

As a matter of elementary legislative history, the only options for Appellant's sentence – at the time of the crime in 1981 and upon his conviction in February 1982 – was death or life with the possibility of parole.

When Appellant's sentence was vacated in 2007, and he was re-sentenced in 2008, the trial court had only one possible option. It was required to look back at the law in effect in 1981 and re-sentence Appellant to serve life with the possibility of parole. The trial court's failure to do so and sentence of life without parole issued to Appellant was thus improper.

II. Section 99-19-107 Does Not Validate Appellant's Sentence.

The trial court's error in re-sentencing of Appellant to life without parole is not justified by resort to Section 99-19-107 of the Mississippi Code. That statute, the original version of which was first enacted in 1977, now provides that:

[i]n the event the death penalty is held to be unconstitutional by the Mississippi Supreme Court or the United States Supreme Court, the court having jurisdiction over a person previously sentenced to death shall cause such person to be brought before the court and the court shall sentence such person to imprisonment for life, and such person shall not be eligible for parole.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-107 (Rev. 2000).² The statute should not have been applied to Appellant's resentencing because it requires that the death penalty statutes to be deemed wholly unconstitutional before it can be used to impose life

² The last sentence of the original statute passed in 1977 stated that the person previously sentenced to death would not be eligible for "...work release or parole." *See* Laws, 1977, ch. 485, § 5. In 1982, the statute was amended to eliminate the term "work release." MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-19-107 (Rev. 1982).

without parole. The death penalty scheme has not been deemed wholly unconstitutional. Rather, the United States Supreme Court and subsequently the Mississippi Supreme Court have determined that Appellant is not eligible to be sentenced to death because of his mental capacity.

Consider other scenarios in which a defendant sentenced to death prior to July 1994 could have had his punishment vacated on appeal or collateral review. Suppose that a reviewing court found that there was insufficient proof of the underlying felony that raised the charge to capital murder. Or that the reviewing court found insufficient evidence that the defendant had the requisite mental state under *Edmund v. Florida*, 458 U.S. 782 (1982), or *Tison v. Arizona*, 481 U.S. 137, 107 S.Ct. 1676 (1987), to be sentenced to death. On remand, the defendant would not be eligible for the death penalty. Would Section 99-19-107 require that the defendant be sentenced to life without parole? Surely those cases are not within the purview of the statute, because the triggering event – that "the death penalty is held to be unconstitutional" has not occurred. All that has happened is that the proof does not authorize the State to impose capital punishment in that case.

Similarly, Section 99-19-107 has not been triggered here. In fact, it has never been triggered. The trial court should have simply resorted to the version of Section 97-3-21 applicable at the time of Appellant's conviction as explained in Section I, above, and not applied Section 99-19-107.

Appellee will no doubt argue, as it did in the lower court, that *Foster v. State* controls and requires application of Section 99-19-107 to Appellant's resentencing. 961 So. 2d 670, 671 (Miss. 2007). In *Foster*, the Court vacated the petitioner's death sentence after the United States Supreme Court determined that the death penalty cannot be imposed upon juvenile offenders. When the petitioner was re-sentenced, he was punished with "life without parole" pursuant to the statute. *Id.* The Court held (in part due to procedural considerations) that it did not matter that at the time of petitioner's conviction – in 1991 – Section 97-3-21 did not provide an option for life without parole because of Section 99-19-107. *Id.* at 672.³

Foster expressly overruled the contrary, established precedent in Abram v. State, 606 So. 2d 1015, 1039 (Miss. 1992). Foster, 961 So. 2d at 671. However, as explained by the dissent in Foster, by Abram, and other relevant sources of legislative history not distinguished or discussed by the Foster majority, the statute was never intended to deprive this Appellee of a sentence of life with possibility of parole. Foster should therefore not apply to Appellee's case for at least three reasons.

³ The facts of this case are also different from *Randall v. State*, 987 So. 2d 453, 454-55 (Miss Ct. App. 2008). *Randall* does not control or have any bearing to this case for the reasons explained below and also because, there, the defendant's trial and sentence took place after the 1994 amendment of Section 97-3-21 and its application was not an *ex post facto* violation. The Court therefore did not need to resort to Section 99-19-107. Here, Appellant's crime and conviction occurred after the 1994 amendment of Section 97-3-21.

First, the legislature's actions analyzed in conjunction with the history of Mississippi's death penalty statues demonstrate clearly that Section 99-19-107 was only intended for use if the Mississippi death penalty statutes were ruled unconstitutional across-the-board as applied to everyone previously sentenced to death.

There is room for construction as to the meaning of Section 99-19-107. Where a statutory provision is ambiguous, the Mississippi Supreme Court looks to the statutory language and its historical background, its subject matter and the purposes and objects to be accomplished. Clark v. State ex rel. Mississippi State Medical Ass'n, 381 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Miss. 1980).

Notably, although the *Foster* majority said "[t]he language of the statute is clear," *Foster*, 961 So. 2d at 672, it had, earlier in *Abram*, said that the contrary meaning for the same statute was "fairly obvious." *Abram*, 606 So. 2d at 1039. This stark disagreement – if not contradiction – about the meaning of the words of Section 99-19-107 indicates that those words must be ambiguous.

The historical background and purpose of Section 99-19-107 explains why it should only apply in the event of a wholesale invalidation of Mississippi's death penalty scheme and not after an individual's relief from a single death sentence. In Furman v. Georgia decided in 1972, the United States Supreme Court found that the Georgia death penalty statutes, which gave complete discretion to juries in capital cases to decide between the death penalty and life imprisonment, were

unconstitutional. This invalidated all death sentences in Georgia. 408 U.S. 238, 92 S.Ct. 2726, 33 L.Ed.2d 346 (1972).

Mississippi's then-existing statute provided:

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