IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

HOWARD MONTEVILLE NEAL

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-1295

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

Miss. Laws, 1977, Ch. 458, Section 5. In 1982, this statute was amended so as to strike the statement concerning ineligibility for work release; otherwise the statute was unchanged. Consequently, Section 99-19-107, as relevant in the case at bar, was in effect prior to the time the prisoner committed this capital murder and was in effect at the time he was sentenced. There was no violation of the prohibitions concerning ex post facto laws in applying this statute here, just as there was not in *Foster*.

The ex post facto clauses are directed to acts of the legislature, not to interpretations of statutes by the judiciary. *Rogers v. Tennessee*, 532 U.S. 451, 121 S.Ct. 1693, 149 L.Ed. 2d 697 (2001). The prisoner's argument is not so much concerned with Section 99-19-107 as it is with the Mississippi Supreme Court's interpretation of Section 99-19-107. The question presented on this appeal is essentially a claim of a violation of due process, rather than a claim of a violation of the proscriptions against ex post facto statutes.

It may be that there is authority to the effect that judicial interpretations of statutes, applied retroactively can, in certain instances, violate the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347, 84 S.Ct. 1697, 12 L.Ed.2d 894 (1964). The prisoner does assert here that the decision in *Foster* was a violation of due process, but this ground was not alleged in the Circuit Court so far as we can see, and the circuit court did not address any such claim. That being so, it may not be raised here. *Jones v. State*, 856 So.2d 389, 392 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Since the question presented is not an ex post facto question and since the prisoner did not raise a due process issue in the circuit court, there is no basis to reverse

the circuit court's decision as to sentence.4

Assuming for argument, however, that this Court finds that the ex post facto clauses are implicated in this appeal or that the due process issue has somehow been preserved for review, notwithstanding the foregoing reasons why it should not so find, there is no merit in the prisoner's claims.

The heart of the prisoner's claim is that Section 99-19-107 was intended by the legislature to apply only in the event that the State or federal supreme court invalidated the State's death penalty in its entirety. In considering this claim, two decisions of the federal supreme court should be kept in mind.

In *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005), five members of the United States Supreme Court decided that to impose the death penalty upon a person who committed capital murder when he was under the age of eighteen years offended their ideas about the federal constitution, or, if not their ideas, their standards of decency. It was this decision that resulted in the vacation of the death sentence imposed in *Foster*, *supra*. The holding in *Roper* invalidated the death penalty for a class of persons, namely those who committed their capital murders when they were under the age of eighteen years.

In *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304, 122 S.Ct. 2242, 153 L.Ed.2d 335 (2002), a majority of the members of the supreme court decided that it offended their view of the federal constitution to execute the mentally retarded. By doing so, they excluded another class of persons convicted of capital murder from the prospect of facing the death penalty.

It may be that the legislature in Section 99-19-107 did not explicitly address this death-

⁴ And to the extent that the prisoner would have this Court ignore or overrule *Foster*, it is hardly necessary to point out that this Honorable Court does not possess the authority to do so.

by-a-thousand-cuts approach taken by the supreme court concerning the death penalty. However, the intention of the legislature was quite clear in that where the supreme court does invalidate the death penalty in and of itself, and not because of some reason of law specific to a particular case, those affected by such a decision are to be sentenced to life without the possibility of parole. In the case at bar, the prisoner's death sentence was vacated not because of some evidentiary or other defect at his trial. It was invalidated because he and others similarly situated simply may not be executed, according to the federal supreme court. It is perfectly consistent with the evident intention of the legislature to understand Section 99-19-107 as being as applicable to instances in which entire classes of persons have been judicially held not to be subject to the death penalty. As to them, the federal supreme court has invalidated the death penalty.

The prisoner's construction of the statute otherwise leads to an absurd result. As he would have this Court read the statute, Section 99-19-107 would apply if and only if the entire death penalty scheme should be stricken, in consequence of some decision by the State or federal supreme court, but would not apply if either of those courts adopted a gradualist policy of invalidating the death penalty by classes of persons. There is no good reason to suppose, and none is argued, that the legislature somehow saw a difference in result in terms of re-sentencing in consequence of a class by class invalidation of the death penalty versus a wholesale invalidation of it. There is no good reason to suppose the reasons that gave rise to the enactment of Section 99-19-107 would not be equally applicable to classes of individuals otherwise subject to the death penalty as well as the death penalty itself. The Court should not adopt an unreasonable understanding of the statute, or one which would lead to an absurd result. *Clark v. State*, 858 So.2d 882 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The prisoner cites examples of death penalty cases in which the death penalty was

vacated on account of some evidentiary deficiency. Asserting that in such instances the death penalty could not be reimposed, he asks whether a life without parole sentence could be imposed under Section 99-19-107. (Brief for the prisoner, at 12). The answer would be that Section 99-19-107 is not applicable in such cases. In such an instance, it would be a defect in the evidence that would result in the vacation of a specific sentences, rather than an invalidation of the death penalty as to classes of people, regardless of how well established the evidence might have been in support of a sentence of death. If indeed the State could not again seek the death penalty, this would be on account of double jeopardy principles. Section 99-19-107 has no application where specific cases are reversed on account of insufficient evidence or trial errors; it has application only where the death penalty is banned as to specific classes of persons or banned as to all persons, regardless of how pristine their trial, or clear their guilt.

Abram v. State, 606 So.2d 1015 (Miss. 1992) is illustrative. In that decision, the circuit court of Marion County found that the State's evidence failed to show one of the *Enmund* factors beyond a reasonable doubt. The court sentenced that defendant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole, under Section 99-19-107, it finding that the death penalty was unconstitutional with respect to that defendant. Abram, at 1038 - 1039. The Supreme Court found error in this. The Court found that the trial court committed error in supposing that Section 99-19-107 was applicable, after having "stayed" execution of the sentence of death. The Court indicated that the sentence to be imposed, if not death, was life imprisonment under Miss. Code Ann. Sections 99-19-101(3), 103, 105(5)(b) (Supp. 1991).

In doing so, the Court made the statement, one entirely unnecessary to the decision, that Section 99-19-107 applies only in the event of a wholesale declaration of invalidity of the death penalty. It is that statement upon which the prisoner's argument is based. *Abram* was simply a

case in which the evidence was found to be insufficient with respect to one of the *Enmund* factors, resulting in the invalidation of the sentence of death in that case. Under such a circumstance, Section 99-19-107 has no application.

The Court was correct in finding that Section 99-19-107 was inapplicable in Abram, but it went too far with its offhand statement concerning a wholesale declaration of invalidity, a fact recognized by the Court in Foster. Abram did not involve the invalidation of the death penalty with respect to a class of persons, of which the defendant was a member; it was simply an instance in which there was a question of whether the State had proved its case in a particular case. What was necessary to the decision in Abram was to decide whether Section 99-19-107 had potential application in an instance in which the State failed or may have failed in its burden of proof to support a sentence of death in a particular case. It was not necessary to the decision, though, to consider the scope of Section 99-19-107 – whether Section 99-19-107 applied only in the event of a "wholesale" invalidation of the death penalty, or whether it also applied in the instance of a "wholesale" invalidation as to particular classes of persons who would be subject to the death penalty but for a decision by the State or federal supreme courts otherwise. Section 99-19-107 was simply inapplicable in *Abram* because there was no "wholesale" declaration of invalidity of the death penalty as to a class of persons or as to all persons under sentence of death. The Foster Court was thus correct to characterize the language used in Abram as dicta.

The Court also noted in *Abram* that there were, at the time, no decisions concerning Section 99-19-107. Thus, the Court's offhand language had no authority in support of it, nor was there any attempt by the Court to support the statement by an investigation into the reasons the legislature enacted the statute in order to support its unsupported statement. The statement seized upon here simply did not carry the weight of law. Moreover, at the time of the decision in

Abram, the federal supreme court had not invalidated death sentence schemes on a class by class basis. Thus the Abram Court did not consider the applicability of Section 99-19-107 in that circumstance and had no occasion to do so. Foster thus is the first decision properly construing the purpose and scope of Section 99-19-107. It is not a decision that changed a prior and different construction of the statute.

Nonetheless, the prisoner attempts to demonstrate now, though the writings of a newspaper writer, what the legislature intended when it enacted Section 99-19-107. (Brief for the prisoner at 17). These newspaper articles are to be ignored since they form no part of the record before the Court. *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 312 (Miss. 1983). As for the rest of the prisoner's discussion of the legislature's actions after the federal supreme court got into the business of tinkering with the mechanics of death, nothing in that discussion shows that the legislature intended that Section 99-19-107 apply only in the event that the State's entire death penalty scheme is invalidated. The fact of the matter is that it was not until 2002, when the supreme court handed down the *Atkins* decision, that that court invalidated the death penalty for a specific class of people. The *Abram* Court thus had no reason to consider the applicability of Section 99-19-107 in 1992 in instances in which classes of persons were held to be ineligible for the death penalty.

The passage cited by the prisoner from <u>The Encyclopedia of Mississippi Law</u> (Brief for the prisoner at 17 - 18) proves nothing about the intention of the legislature with respect to Section 99-19-107 in instances in which classes of persons have been excluded from the applicability of the death penalty.

⁵ And he also cites Justice Diaz's dissent in *Foster*. However, it is unnecessary to consider Justice Diaz's dissent there in this Court since it does not constitute authority.

The prisoner attempts to tell this Court that the reason his death penalty was vacated was specific to himself, or his case, similar to the facts of *Abram*. While it may be that the prisoner was found to be sufficiently mentally retarded to avoid execution of his death sentence, the one and only reason why his mental retardation had any significance was because of the federal supreme court's decision in *Atkins*. In *Abram* it was the failure of the State's evidence in a particular regard that resulted in the vacation of that death penalty. Section 99-19-107 applies where there is a judicial declaration of invalidity of the death penalty, regardless of the fact that that sentence is otherwise supported by the evidence in the case and properly imposed.

The Court is bound by the decision in *Foster*. In the event, though, that the Court does not view the language in *Abram* as *dicta*, application of *Foster* in the case at bar works no violation of the prisoner's due process right. We note again that the due process claim was not raised in the circuit court and for that reason is not properly before this Court.

A decision by the Mississippi Supreme Court which changes a previous construction of a statute, applied retroactively, may violate the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment if it "is unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue. . . ." (Emphasis added) *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347, 353 - 354, 84 S.Ct. 1697, 12 L.Ed.2d 894 (1964); *Rogers v. Tennessee*, 532 U.S. 451, 121 S.Ct. 1693, 149 L.Ed.2d 697 (2001). On the other hand, it is clear that State courts are free to interpret and reinterpret State statutes and that their interpretations become as definitely a part of those statutes as if the legislature inserted them. *Garner v. Louisiana*, 368 U.S. 157, 169, 82 S.Ct. 248, 254, 7 L.Ed.2d 207, 216 (1961); *Irving v. Hargett*, 518 F. Supp 1127 (D.C. Miss. 1981). An interpretation of a statute may be given retroactive application unless it can be shown that the interpretation is both unexpected and indefensible. *State v. Redmond*, 262 Neb. 411, 631 N.W.2d

501 (2001). Again assuming that *Foster* actually changed a previous construction of Section of 99-19-107, rather than merely regarding what was said in *Abram* as being so much surplusage, the question is whether the decision in *Foster* was unexpected and indefensible.

As we have pointed out above, *Abram* was decided in 1992. There was not at the time a general declaration of invalidity of the death penalty, nor such a declaration with respect to classes of persons. Beginning in 2002, though, the federal supreme court did invalidate the death penalty for certain classes. It was only at that point that the Mississippi Supreme Court would have had an occasion to consider the application of Section 99-19-107 in the context of invalidity by class of persons. So far as we can recall, the question first came up before the Court in *Foster*.

The decision in *Foster* was not unexpected. The Mississippi Supreme Court had never had occasion to consider the statute in relation to the invalidation of the death penalty as to particular classes prior to *Foster*. As we have said above, there was no sensible reason to suppose that the legislature did not intend Section 99-19-107 to apply in cases such as that at bar, but only in an instance in which the entire death penalty scheme was invalidated. *Foster* was the first case to come before the Court, to our knowledge, in which the question of whether Section 99-19-107 applied in an instance in which the death penalty had been effectively abolished as to a class or persons by the federal supreme court.

The decision in *Foster* was defensible: It was a fair and reasonable understanding of the legislature's intention. It clearly was the legislature's intention to provide for a life sentence without parole where the State or federal supreme court invalidated the death penalty. The Court's decision in *Foster* simply gave effect to the legislature's intent, and there is every reason to believe that the legislature intended the statute to apply both where the death penalty is entirely

abolished or partially abolished by judicial fiat. As *Garner*, *supra*, demonstrates, the Mississippi Supreme Court had the authority to interpret the statute in order to give effect to the intention behind it. This is what the Court did in *Foster*.

CONCLUSION

There was no ex post facto application of Section 99-19-107 in the case at bar. That statute was enacted in 1977 and was fully in force at the time the prisoner committed his murders.

As for the due process argument, that argument was not raised in the circuit court and may not be raised here for that reason. But even if that argument is found to be properly before the Court, there is no merit in it.

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